IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

KIMBERLY TAYLOR,
Appellant,

v.

KEITH BRILL, M.D. and WOMEN'S
HEALTH ASSOCIATES OF
SOUTHERN NEVADA-MARTIN,
PLLC,
Respondents.

Electronically Filed
Mar 10 2022 11:29 a.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

SUPREME COURT CASE NO. 83847

Dist. Court Case No. A-18-773472-C

*On Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court
Clark County, Nevada, Department III, Hon. Monica Trujillo, Presiding*

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

ADAM J. BREEDEN, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 008768
BREEDEN & ASSOCIATES, PLLC
376 E. Warm Springs Rd., Suite 120
Las Vegas, NV 89119
Ph. (702) 819-7770
Fax (702) 819-7771
Adam@breedenandassociates.com

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The basis of this Court's appellate jurisdiction is NRAP 3A(b)(1). This appeal follows a District Court Judgment on Jury Verdict entered on November 19, 2021 with Notice of Entry of Order served on the same date. (XIII Appx. 2660-2669) The Notice of Appeal was filed and served on November 22, 2021, within 30 days of Notice of Entry of Order. (XIII Appx. 2674) The order appealed from was a final, appealable order entering a defense judgment after a jury verdict which disposed of all issues against all remaining parties.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This appeal presents several important legal issues regarding medical malpractice personal injury law, the lead issue being whether the Nevada Supreme Court will adopt the reasoning of other state high courts throughout the United States and affirm that (a) because there is no assumption of risk defense in a medical malpractice case (b) evidence and argument by the defendant physician or defense counsel that the patient’s injury was a so-called “risk” or “complication” that was disclosed to her in advance is inadmissible, prejudicial and requires a new trial if admitted. *E.g.*, *Wilson v. Patel*, 517 S.W.3d 520 (Mo. 2017) (evidence that the patient “was aware” of a risk of a tear as a “known complication” and yet “agreed” to the procedure as a defense was held to be improper); *Wright v. Kaye*, 267 Va. 510, 593 S.E.2d 307 (2004) (“discussion of risk is not probative upon the issue of causation: whether [the doctor] negligently performed the procedure.”). Numerous other states have recognized this principle because whether a physician deems something a “risk” to a procedure has no bearing on whether the procedure was correctly performed within the standard of care. The Nevada Supreme Court has never issued a published decision on this issue of medical malpractice law. Therefore, Taylor believes that this appeal concerns a question of first impression under Nevada law and a question of statewide public importance under NRAP 17(a)(13) and (14) and this appeal should be retained by the Nevada Supreme Court.

I. STATEMENT OF ISSUES IN APPEAL

Did the District Court commit reversible error warranting a new trial in this medical malpractice action by:

1. Improperly admitting evidence and argument supporting an assumption of risk defense for the physician;
2. Barring Taylor's counsel from conducting any voir dire as to prospective juror feelings on tort reform, KODIN, or a perceived medical malpractice crisis;
3. During presentation of evidence, excluding over \$200,000 of Taylor's special damages, improperly allowing collateral source evidence, refusing to admit a demonstrative exhibit of the medical instrument involved, and refusing to allow impeachment of the defense expert as to bias;
4. Barring Taylor's counsel from using the phrases "send a message" or that the jury is the "conscience of the community" in closing argument contrary to precedent;
5. Refusing to give applicable pattern jury instructions while giving a non-pattern instruction on "mere happening" tailored to fit the Defendant's arguments;
6. Refusing to allow permitted closing argument to refute the Defendant's case and allowing Defense counsel to invite the jury to disregard the actual testimony and assume alternate facts to which he personally vouched for.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Kimberly Taylor filed a medical malpractice action against her OB/GYN physician, Dr. Keith Brill, after a hysteroscopy procedure. It is undisputed that during the procedure Dr. Brill perforated *both* Taylor's uterus and the small bowel with a resectoscope, leading to serious illness, infection, a hospital stay of nine days, and hundreds of thousands of dollars in medical expenses for Taylor. Dr. Brill's "defense" at trial was that uterine and bowel perforation is a known risk of which he advised Taylor in advance, an assumption of risk defense.

After a jury verdict for the defense entered on November 19, 2021, Taylor appealed and now asserts several novel issues under Nevada law as to assumption of risk in a medical malpractice claim as well as numerous evidentiary issues.

III. STATEMENT OF FACTS

This is a medical malpractice action by Plaintiff Kimberly Taylor against her OB/GYN physician, Defendant Dr. Keith Brill. (I Appx. 1-25) On April 26, 2017, Dr. Brill performed an intended dilation and curettage with hysteroscopy combined with fibroid tumor removal and hydrothermal ablation procedure on Ms. Taylor. (X Appx. 2070-2072) In layman's terms, this meant that during part of the procedure a small camera and cutting device called a resectoscope would be inserted into the uterus and a fibroid tumor previously identified via ultrasound in the uterus would be removed. This procedure was done with the use of a Symphion system

resectoscope. (XI Appx. 2247) This is a small, 6.3 mm tube-like device with a tip 3.6 mm in diameter that is inserted vaginally into the uterus. (XI Appx. 2267, XIII Appx. 2676-2677) The tip of the instrument is blunt but has a resecting window near the tip which, when activated by the physician with a foot pedal, cuts with heat from electricity. (XI Appx. 2248-2250, XIII Appx. 2676-2677) The patient is under complete anesthesia for the procedure. (X Appx. 1966, 2072) If the procedure is properly performed, the medical instruments never leave the uterus.

It is undisputed that during the procedure, Dr. Brill perforated both the uterus and small bowel with the resectoscope. (XII Appx. 2304) However, the parties disagreed on whether he did this by either (a) burning or (b) mechanically pushing the tip of the device through the organs, although Taylor's expert testified that either way was beneath the standard of care. (Compare X Appx. 1988-1989 with XII Appx. 2328-2332).

Prior to and during trial, Taylor's counsel became concerned regarding the presiding judge, the newly-elected Hon. Monica Trujillo. Taylor's counsel learned that (a) prior to being elected Judge Trujillo was a public defender with little to no personal injury law experience, (b) Taylor's trial would be one of the first if not *the* first medical malpractice for the Judge, and (c) it was learned that Defense counsel made large financial donations to Judge Trujillo's campaign. As trial proceeded, virtually every contested issue of any significance was decided in favor of the

defense.

Trial of the case began on October 7, 2021 and lasted eight trial days, two of which were jury selection. (VI Appx. 1103 – XIII Appx. 2492) The primary witnesses were (1) Plaintiff Kimberly Taylor, (2) Taylor’s retained medical expert, Dr. David Berke, (3) Defendant Dr. Keith Brill, and (4) Dr. Brill’s retained medical expert, Dr. Steven McCarus.

Taylor testified (X Appx. 2058 – XI Appx. 2181) that she was forty-five years old when the hysteroscopy occurred. (X Appx. 2058) She had a medical issue with abnormal menstrual cycles and Dr. Brill, her OB/GYN, recommended hysteroscopy with resection of a fibroid tumor in the uterus with hydrothermal ablation. (X Appx. 2064-2066) Taylor reported for the outpatient procedure at Henderson Hospital expecting a one hour procedure. (X Appx. 2071-2075) She had been told the procedure was generally safe and she’d be running in a 5k race by the weekend. (X Appx. 2073) When she awoke from anesthesia, Dr. Brill only told her the procedure was “too complicated” and had been terminated (X Appx. 2079), but never told her there was any perforation of any kind that he caused. (X Appx. 2079-2080) Taylor then described going home in extreme pain, not being able to reach Dr. Brill, and returning to the emergency room twice before another physician correctly diagnosed her with a perforated uterus and small intestine, resulting in sepsis. (X Appx. 2081-2087, XI Appx. 2097-2119) Taylor explained how she had to have an emergency

bowel resection surgery and a nine day hospitalization with post-hospital IV antibiotics to recover. (X Appx. 2081-2087, XI Appx. 2097-2119) She only learned that Dr. Brill had caused the perforations *after* the emergency surgery from her infectious diseases physician, Dr. Lipman. (XI Appx. 2116-2117) She had incurred over \$200,000 in medical bills but, as explained *infra*, the District Court would not allow the medical special damages into evidence. (XI Appx. 2130, 2134-2135) Because the Defense did not highly contest anything that occurred factually, Taylor's cross-examination focused on the fact that Taylor had been told that the surgery had risks, including risk of perforation, but she still agreed to undergo it (an assumption of risk defense). (XI Appx. 2153 – 2155, 2159, 2161-62, XI Appx. 2181-2182).

Taylor's retained standard of care medical expert was an OB/GYN, Dr. Berke. (X Appx. 1948-2055). Dr. Berke testified that has performed 500-600 hysteroscopies in his career and never caused a bowel perforation. (X Appx. 1955, 1995) He explained Taylor's uterine anatomy and testified that it is not highly unusual and it was possible to safely perform a hysteroscopy Taylor. (X Appx. 1956-1958) He stated that according to the operative report Dr. Brill was having trouble visualizing the interior of the uterus during the surgery. Dr. Brill initially could not locate the fibroid tumor so he activated the thermal cutting tip of the resectoscope to resect what Dr. Brill believed was white septum tissue obscuring his

view. (X Appx. 1970-1971) Immediately thereafter, Dr. Brill observed a uterine perforation in the anterior of the uterus where he had been cutting. (X Appx. 1970-1972) Dr. Brill inspected the area but failed to find any bowel injury and did not perform laparoscopy to rule out such an injury, per the standard of care. (X Appx. 1973-1975) Dr. Brill performed a separate curettage afterward and then ceased the remainder of the procedure. (X Appx. 1973-1975) It was Dr. Berke's medical opinion that the uterine and bowel perforations were caused at the same time while Dr. Brill was using the yellow foot pedal to resect with thermal injury and Dr. Brill negligently cut all the way through the uterus and into the small bowel because he dangerously chose to cut without having good visualization. (X Appx. 1988-1989, 1991) He testified that Dr. Brill's treatment fell below the standard of care in a number of ways, including cutting without visualization, failing to identify the bowel injury intraoperatively and failing to advise Taylor of at least her uterine perforation which Dr. Brill admitted he observed. (X Appx. 1990-1995) On cross-examination, to develop their improper assumption of risk defense Dr. Berke was cross-examined by the defense as to so-called risks of the procedure, including perforation. (X Appx. 2004-2005, 2006-2007)

Dr. Brill's retained standard of care expert was an OB/GYN, Dr. McCarus. (XI Appx. 2185-2286). During the direct examination of Dr. Brill's retained expert Dr. McCarus, the Defense continued its faux defense that what happened to Taylor

was just a risk to which she consented. (XI Appx. 2211-2213) Dr. McCarus simply testified in a summary manner that Dr. Brill did everything he was supposed to have done but the risk just happened. On cross-examination by Taylor's counsel (XI Appx. 2247-2281) Dr. McCarus made a number of admissions damaging to Dr. Brill, including that: The resectoscope is designed with a blunt tip to reduce or eliminate the risk of perforations as well as other design features for that purpose, (XI Appx. 2248-2250) that Dr. McCarus has performed "thousands" of hysteroscopies correctly and never perforated a patient's bowel, (XI Appx. 2250) that at least some bowel perforations are due to physician negligence, (XI Appx. 2252, 2254) that it was possible in his opinion to safely perform hysteroscopy on Taylor *without* causing the perforations, (XI Appx. at 2254-2255) that he felt the perforations were caused by Dr. Brill at the same time by mechanically pushing or jamming the blunt tipped resectoscope through two (!) organs, (XI Appx. 2255-2258) that a surgeon must use his/her "skill, training, and experience to avoid" uterine and bowel perforation to the extent possible, (XI Appx. 2259) that spontaneous perforation not caused by the surgical instruments does not occur, (XI Appx. 2259-2260) that the standard of care requires the surgeon to visually see where they are in the uterus at all times and stop working if they can't see (even though Dr. Brill pushed an instrument all the way through the uterus and small bowel), (XI Appx. 2260, 2262) that the incident of bowel perforation for the

procedure is “extremely low,” (XI Appx. 2264) that although his theory was mechanical perforation the 3.6 *mm* tip caused a much larger 1.6 *cm* hole in the small bowel (strongly suggesting a larger burn injury), (XI Appx. 2267-2268) that the standard of care requires Dr. Brill to advise the patient of perforation (which Dr. Brill admitted he could not recall doing), (XI Appx. at 2269-2270) that although Dr. Brill took a number of intraoperative photos he intentionally took none of the perforation he caused which might have shown a thermal injury, (XI Appx. 2279-2280) and that perforation of the lungs, kidneys or even a perforation through both sides of the small bowel would all be below the standard of care in his opinion. (XI Appx. 2269)

Dr. Brill testified in his own defense and admitted essentially every fact in the case. (XII Appx. 2304-2446) He admitted he perforated Taylor’s uterus and small bowel during the procedure. (XII Appx. 2304-2305) He admitted he failed to find the small bowel perforation intraoperatively. (XII Appx. 2306) He admitted that upon beginning the operation he could not locate the tumor to resect it so he began cutting at white tissue he “believed to be the uterine septum.” (XII Appx. 2306-2307) He admitted the perforation was at the anterior of the uterus, the same area where seconds earlier he had been cutting with the resectoscope. (XII Appx. 2308-2309) He admitted that the standard of care requires him to have good visualization and to be sure of what he is cutting. (XII Appx. 2309) He admitted he could not recall telling Taylor or the attending nurse a perforation had occurred when he spoke

to them her after the surgery. (XII Appx. 2309-2310) He admitted that under the “complications” section of the surgery records “none per surgeon” was indicated, even though there had been a serious perforation. (XII Appx. 2311) He admitted he ordered no radiology to check for a more serious perforation and did not try to contact Taylor later that day after her hospital release to check up on her. (XII Appx. 2313-2314) He admitted the standard of care requires him to avoid excessive cutting and force with the uterus when using the resectoscope. (XII Appx. 2314-2315) He admitted he is required to use his skill, training and experience to *avoid* perforation to the extent he is able. (XII Appx. 2315) He admitted he chose to take no photographs of the injury he caused. (XII Appx. 2315-2316) He admitted that although Taylor had unusual anatomy of the uterus, this was known pre-surgery and he felt the procedure could still be safely performed. (XII Appx. 2317-2318) He admitted that “in at least some instances” uterine and bowel perforation are below the standard of care. (XII Appx. Appx. 2318-2319) He testified he had never before caused a bowel perforation during hysteroscopy but denied making any errors despite putting the medical instrument through two (!) organs without medical cause. (XII Appx. 2318-2319) He admitted that while at trial his testimony matched that of his retained expert that the perforations occurred at the same time via mechanical force from the blunt tip, he had earlier testified at deposition that he did not know exactly when or how the bowel injury occurred and that at deposition he had testified

in accordance with the thermal injury theory of the bowel perforation (which he had to avoid at all costs during trial as even his own expert testified if the injury occurred thermally it is below the standard of care). (XII Appx. 2328-2332) Dr. Brill continued his assumption of his defense all through his testimony, saying of perforations “that can occur. That’s why we counsel patients on risks and complications that can occur” (XII Appx. 2334 as well as 2344-2346), even though his actual testimony was that he could not recall any actual conversation he had with Taylor about risks. (XII Appx. 2319)

Despite repeated objections by Taylor that it was improper, the Defense was allowed during trial to present a full assumption of the risk defense (that Taylor was advised of the risk of intestinal perforation prior to the procedure but consented knowing the risks and therefore the doctor was not liable). Although the District Court recognized that Taylor’s position on the law was correct and gave an accurate jury instruction on the law (XIII Appx. 2631) this only highlights the unfairness of what occurred—the District Court *knew* the assumption of risk evidence was improper but its solution was to allow all the improper evidence and argument to be heard by the jury regardless.

The jury returned a defense verdict. (XIII Appx. 2666-2669, 2678) In post-verdict juror interviews, Jurors # 342 and 585 stated they voted for a defense verdict in part because they didn’t think Dr. Brill *intentionally* caused the injury which (they

incorrectly believed) was needed in order to return a verdict for Taylor, which shows the improper risk and complications arguments of the Defense helped carry the day. The astounding verdict highlights the very reason why assumption of risk evidence is considered irrelevant, prejudicial, improper and misleading to the jury in a medical malpractice action and should be barred at trial. Nevertheless, the Defense achieved their defense verdict through this improper, faux defense.

IV. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The District Court made numerous errors in virtually every phase of trial, including voir dire, direct and cross-examination and closing argument, which were all one-sidedly made in favor of the Defense.

V. ARGUMENT

A. The District Court Erred in Allowing a Full Assumption of Risk Defense for a Medical Malpractice Action

1. Assumption of Risk is *not* a defense in a Medical Malpractice action

Nevada's appellate courts have never in a reported decision commented on the improper defense of assumption of risk in a medical malpractice case.¹ Taylor asks the Supreme Court to do so now and make clear to the District Courts that there is no assumption of risk defense in a medical malpractice case and such evidence

¹ One *unreported* panel decision from this Court, *Busick v. Trainor*, 437 P.3d 1050 (Nev. 2019) (unpublished) briefly discussed the *lack* of an informed consent defense in a medical malpractice action, but the opinion (which upheld a defense verdict) fails to detail how the evidence was presented or argued at the trial court level.

and argument must be barred as irrelevant and prejudicial.

Courts all over the United States have recognized that in a medical malpractice case where lack of informed consent is *not* alleged, evidence of informed consent of the patient to risks or argument of counsel as to known risks and complications is irrelevant, prejudicial and must be excluded at trial. The Missouri Supreme Court recently addressed this issue in *Wilson v. Patel*, 517 S.W.3d 520 (Mo. 2017). In that case, the patient sustained an esophageal tear during an endoscopy, an alleged risk or complication of the procedure. *Id.* at 521-522. The doctor sought to defend the case by referring to the patient's consent form that disclosed such a risk and by arguing the tear was a "known complication." *Id.* at 522, 523. Further, the doctor's counsel argued that the patient "was aware" of a risk of a tear as a "known complication" and yet "agreed" to the procedure as a defense. *Id.* at 523, 525. All of this was held to be improper and warranted a new trial. The Missouri Supreme Court reviewed numerous other court decisions around the country and correctly determined that evidence of informed consent should have been excluded at trial. The court found that **"evidence of alleged informed consent is irrelevant and can only mislead the jury in a medical malpractice case based on negligent performance of care and treatment."** *Id.* at 526. This is because the real task of the jury is to determine whether the physician used reasonable care and skill when conducting the procedure. Therefore, the Missouri Supreme Court reversed and

remanded the case because the admitted evidence and argument as to informed consent and a known complication “could only confuse the jury in its determination of the facts” as to the real issue which is standard of care. *Id.* at 521.

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