IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

KIMBERLY TAYLOR,

Appellant,

VS.

KEITH BRILL, M.D. and WOMEN'S HEALTH ASSOCIATES OF SOUTHERN NEVADA-MARTIN, PLLC,

Respondents.

Supreme Court Case No.: 83847 Electronically Filed Apr 25, 2022 06:06 p.m. District Court Case No.: 83847 Apr 25, 2022 06:06 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

RESPONDENTS, KEITH BRILL, M.D. AND WOMEN'S HEALTH ASSOCIATES OF SOUTHERN NEVADA-MARTIN, PLLC'S ANSWERING BRIEF

ROBERT C. McBRIDE, ESQ.

Nevada Bar No.: 007082

HEATHER S. HALL, ESQ.

Nevada Bar No.: 010608

McBRIDE HALL

8329 W. Sunset Road, Suite 260

Las Vegas, Nevada 89113

Phone: (702) 792-5855

Fax: (702) 796-5855

Attorneys for Respondents

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

On October 4, 2021, Defendants filed their Motion to Reconsider or Clarify Order Regarding Plaintiff's Motion in Limine No. 2 to Exclude Informed Consent Form and Terms or Argument Regarding "Risk" or "Known Complication", on Order Shortening Time. (A. V.V, APPX001009 – APPX001061). The Motion to Reconsider or Clarify was heard by the District Court on day 1 of trial, October 7, 2021. (A. V.VI, APPX001103 – APPX001115).

As indicated, the District Court treated the Defense's Motion as one to clarify the prior ruling. (A. V.VI, APPX001112). The District Court stood by the ruling barring the Defense from utilizing all informed consent documents but clarified that there could be questioning of "Ms. Taylor and to Dr. Brill as to whether or not the known risk was disclosed, whether she was aware of it. But again, still no informed consent documents. So that way you can establish whether she knew or not." (A. V.VI, APPX001112).

The consent form and related patient education materials were not admitted during trial and Defense counsel was not permitted to question Ms. Taylor using the consent form. Further, Defense counsel was not permitted to show these documents

to the jury. The District Court exercised its discretion in allowing questioning on what was known to the patient before surgery.

This Court has not addressed the admissibility of patient consent evidence in a medical malpractice case that does not involve lack of informed consent and the facts of this case do not present a basis to order strict exclusion when informed consent evidence is relevant to the question of negligence. *Brady v. Urbas*, 111 A.3d 1155, 1162-1164 (Pa. 2015) (declining to hold that all aspects of informed-consent information are always "irrelevant in a medical malpractice case"); *Viera v. Cohen*, 283 Conn. 412, 927 A.2d 843, 868-69 (Conn. 2007) (reasonable to admit evidence of informed consent where the applicable standard of care obligated the doctor to discuss particular risks); *Liscio v. Pinson*, 83 P. 3d 1149, 1156 (Colo. Ct. App. 2003) (evidence of a patient's informed consent admissible when plaintiffs' inquiries open the door). Furthermore, **the records were excluded** at the request of Ms. Taylor.

D. DEFENDANTS NEVER PRESENTED A DEFENSE THAT MS. TAYLOR ASSUMED THE RISK OF NEGLIGENCE.

The Defense's theory at trial was never that Ms. Taylor assumed the risk of negligence or consented to negligence. As was argued in the District Court, the Defense maintained, with substantial evidentiary support, that Ms. Taylor experienced a known risk and complication, the risk of which was increased due to her abnormal uterus.

It is undisputed that the consent forms maintained as part of the WHASN and Henderson Hospital medical records in this case contain the signature of the patient, Kimberly Taylor. Defendants had no intention of arguing that a consent form for surgery is a "waiver of negligence", as suggested by Plaintiff. However, a signed consent form is relevant evidence that a medical complication can and do occur in the absence of negligence. Over the Defense's objection, the District Court excluded the records demonstrating the detailed information that was provided to Ms. Taylor regarding the risk of uterine perforation and injury to other organs.

Plaintiff has not cited to any Nevada case law to support the contention that evidence that a patient discussed known risks and complications of a surgery with her surgeon prior to the procedure is irrelevant, confusing, or should otherwise have been excluded by the District Court. Further, any perceived prejudice to Plaintiff was cured by means of the limiting instruction advising the jury that they are not to consider that the Plaintiff consented to a negligently performed surgery. *Busick v. Trainor*, 2019 Nev. Unpub. LEXIS 378, at *4-5, 437 P.3d 1050 (Nev. 2019).

Unlike *Busick v. Trainor*, the District Court did not admit the consent form and patient education materials during this trial. Even though the District Court did not allow Defense counsel to show the consent form and patient education materials during trial (which differs from *Busick*), the jury was still given the following jury instruction:

The mere fact that a provider of health care considers an injury to a patient to be a "risk" or a known "complication" of a procedure does not mean that the defendant is not liable or did not breach the standard of care.

The mere fact that a patient was advised of a potential "risk" or "complication" also does not mean that the defendant is not liable or did not breach the standard of care.

Assumption of the risk is not a defense to negligence by the physician.

Instead, a physician must use reasonable care, skill or knowledge ordinarily used under similar circumstances by similarly trained and experienced providers of health care to avoid known "risks" or "complications" to the extent possible and this is the issue you must resolve in this case.

(A. V.XIII, APPX002631).

Any prejudice Plaintiff claims fro9m discussion of consent and known risks and complications was cured by means of the limiting instruction advising the jury that they are not to consider that the Plaintiff consented to a negligently performed surgery. The complication Ms. Taylor experienced is a known risk and complication that she was expressly told might occur, prior to her decision to proceed with

surgery. The reason that patients are advised of known risks and complications in the consent process in advance of surgery is to advise that complications can occur even if the surgery is performed correctly. Consent itself does not mean that the surgery was performed correctly, but that is a decision for the jury and the trier of fact found in favor of the Defense.

E. THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY REFUSED TO ALLOW MS. TAYLOR'S COUNSEL TO CONDUCT VOIR DIRE ON TORT REFORM.

Ms. Taylor relies on *Whitlock v. Salmon*, 104 Nev. 24, 25, 752 P.2d 210, 211 (1988), wherein this Court held it was reversible error to deny attorneys for both plaintiff and defendant an opportunity to conduct *any* voir dire examination of jury in medical malpractice action. *See Whitlock v. Salmon*, 104 Nev. 24, 752 P.2d 210 (1988). In *Whitlock*, the trial judge presented the attorneys' questions to the prospective jurors on voir dire, but refused to allow counsel to directly participate in the process. Voir dire was conducted *exclusively* by the judge. *Id.* at 25, 211. That case is inapplicable here, where both Taylor's counsel and Defense counsel were permitted to conduct extensive voir dire examination of potential jurors over the course of 2 days.

Voir dire is not a platform from which counsel may educate prospective jurors about the case or compel them to commit themselves to a particular disposition of the matter, to prejudice them for or against a party, or to "indoctrinate" them. *People*

v. Visciotte, 2 Cal. 4th 1, 48, 825 P.2d 388, 412 (1992). Nevada law is clear that questions that are repetitive and aimed at indoctrination rather than the acquisition of information regarding bias or the ability to apply the law are inappropriate. See Hogan v. State, 103 Nev. 21, 23, 732 P.2d 422, 423 (1987); See also Oliver v. State, 85 Nev. 418, 456 P.2d 431 (1969).

In briefing this issue to the District Court, Taylor's counsel indicated he intends to ask potential jurors the following questions:

- Do you know what KODIN is?
- If you lived in Clark County in 2004, do you remember how you voted on KODIN?
- Do you think there is a crisis for medical malpractice insurance rates for doctors?
- If you felt a doctor would have to personally pay a large judgment instead of having it covered through insurance, would that affect your verdict?
- Do you feel that if you rule against the Defendant in this case, his malpractice insurance premiums might increase? Would that affect your verdict in this case?

• If the judge instructed you in this case not to consider whether the doctor defendant had medical malpractice insurance, do you think you could follow that instruction?

(A. V.IV, APPX000627).

The proposed voir dire was a thinly veiled attempt to find out how a prospective juror may rule in this case by asking specific questions on tort reform and insurance to bias the jury in favor of Plaintiff. Responses to these questions were not necessary to empanel a fair and impartial jury in this professional negligence case. Had these questions been permitted, it would likely have resulted in severe prejudice to Defendants due to repeated reference to and emphasis of tort reform and Defendants' liability insurance. Tort reform has existed in this state since 2004. Plaintiff points to no evidence of any recent or ongoing media campaigns regarding medical malpractice and tort reform to justify asking potential jurors questions which sought opinions on political issues.

Taylor's counsel was also properly precluded from questioning potential jurors about Defendants' liability insurance. Taylor argued then and now that she wanted to prevent jurors from considering the existence of Defendants' liability insurance, but the precluded voir dire questions emphasized the existence of Defendants' insurance. Considering proposed instruction 1.07 and these questions together, it is clear that the intent was to repeatedly reference Defendants'

malpractice insurance in an effort to emphasize that any verdict would not be paid directly by Dr. Brill or WHASN. As recognized by the trial court in *Capanna v*. *Orth*, to allow Plaintiff's counsel to emphasize and mention Defendants' liability insurance would be "incredibly improper." (A. V.V, APPX000927). The District Court properly excluded the questioning Plaintiff's counsel sought to do of potential jurors and later rejected a jury instruction that would have emphasized the existence of Defendants' liability insurance.

Even when voir dire questioning on insurance is permitted in non-medical malpractice cases, this Court has made clear that "the proper approach in *voir dire* involving **personal injury cases** is to allow 'good faith' questioning of the *venire* concerning interests in, or connections with, casualty insurance companies." *Silver State Disposal Co. v. Shelley*, 105 Nev. 309, 312-13, 774 P.2d 1044, 1046-47 (1989) (Emphasis added). The questioning must be "for the purpose of ascertaining the qualifications of prospective jurors and for ferreting out bias and prejudice, and **not for the purpose of informing them that there is insurance in the case.**" *Id.* at 313, 1047 (Emphasis added). The proposed voir dire was not 'good faith questioning'.

Because these questions were aimed more at indoctrination than for the determination of bias or inability to apply the law, Taylor's counsel was not

permitted to conduct voir dire on these topics. The District Court did not abuse its discretion in precluding this improper voir dire.

F. THERE WERE NO EVIDENTIARY ERRORS ENTITLING MS. TAYLOR TO A NEW TRIAL.

Appellant contends there were various evidentiary errors committed by the District Court. No evidentiary errors were committed. Evidentiary rulings are generally reviewed for abuse of discretion. *McLellan v. State*, 124 Nev. 263, 182 P.3d 106 (2008).

1. Medical Bills were Properly Excluded as an Element of Taylor's Damages.

The admission of medical bills goes to damages. Because the jury unanimously found in favor of the defense, the jury never reached the issue of damages. Thus, Taylor was not aggrieved by the exclusion of her medical bills and this Court need not even consider this argument.

Should this Court consider the issue, medical bills were properly excluded. Per Nevada pattern jury instruction 5PID.1, a plaintiff is only entitled to seek past medical bills which are reasonable and necessarily incurred as a result of the alleged negligence of Defendant. The phrase "reasonable and necessary" means that the cost of the care was reasonable and that the care was caused by the negligence of the Defendant. Care that was received by a plaintiff but **not** necessitated by alleged negligence is **not** compensable:

"A person injured by another's tortious conduct is entitled to recover the reasonable value of medical care and services reasonably required and **attributable to the tort**..." (*Hanif v. Housing Authority of Yolo County*, 200 Ca App 3d 635 (Ca. 1988). (Emphasis added).

To recover medical expenses as an element of damages, Nevada requires medical expenses to be supported by sufficient and competent evidence. *K-Mart Corp. v. Washington*, 109 Nev. 1180, 1196, 866 P.2d 274 (1993) overruled on other grounds. Expert testimony is required to establish that medical treatment, and the costs associated with the same, were caused by Defendant's negligence. *Banks v. Sunrise Hospital*, 120 Nev. 822, 834, 102 P. 3d 52 (2004). In order to recover for past medical expenses at trial, Ms. Taylor was required to present evidence that the charges were the reasonable value of the services and that those expenses were necessarily incurred as a result of the alleged negligence.

In Nevada, the law is well settled that medical causation (as well as liability) must be proven within a reasonable degree of medical probability based on competent expert testimony. *See Prabhu v. Levine*, 930 P 2d 103 (Nev 1996). *See* also *Maxwell v. Powers* 22 Cal App 4th 1596 (Ca App 1994) and *Perez v. Las Vegas Medical Center*, 107 Nev 1, 805 P 2d 859 (Nev. 1991) and *Orcutt v. Miller*, 95 Nev 408, 595 P 2d 1191 (Nev 1979).

At trial, Ms. Taylor intended to seek compensation for medical bills totaling \$225,620.07, but never provided a single expert to offer an opinion that the past medical bills were reasonable, necessary and incurred by the alleged negligence of Dr. Brill. Taylor attempted to remedy the failure to provide a medical expert opinion by calling non-physician billing custodians of records. Voir dire of these witnesses, outside the presence of the jury, demonstrated they lacked the necessary expertise and knowledge to opine as to the reasonableness and necessity of Ms. Taylor's past medical bills and relate it to the alleged negligence.

Because Ms. Taylor failed to set forth admissible evidence demonstrating that her past medical expenses were reasonable and necessarily incurred as a result of Dr. Brill's alleged negligence, her medical bills were properly excluded.

2. The District Court's Ruling on Private Collateral Source Evidence was Correct.

"Evidence of collateral source payments goes to the issue of damages." *Busick* v. *Trainor*, 2019 Nev. Unpub. LEXIS 378, 437 P.3d 1050 (Nev. 2019). For Taylor to challenge the admission of collateral source payments, she would first need standing to do so. Because the jury unanimously found in favor of the Defense, the jury never reached the issue of damages. Thus, Taylor was not aggrieved by the introduction of evidence of Ms. Taylor's *private* health insurance payments and this Court need not even consider the issue of collateral source payments.

Should this Court decide to review this issue, the defense was allowed, pursuant to the clear language of NRS 42.2021, to introduce evidence of collateral source payments which necessarily included the amounts that were contractually written off pursuant to that private insurance.

The district court's decision to admit collateral source evidence is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *Frei v. Goodsell*, 129 Nev. Adv. Rep. 43, 305 P.3d 70, 73 (2013) (noting that the appellate court will not interfere "absent a showing of palpable abuse). This Court has previously found that challenges to admission of collateral source payments in a medical malpractice case concluded in favor of the defense could not be maintained. *Busick v. Trainor*, 2019 Nev. Unpub. LEXIS 378, 437 P.3d 1050 (Nev. 2019); *Capanna v. Orth*, 134 Nev. 888, 432 P.3d 726 (2018).

Even if this Court agrees with Taylor that the District Court erred in allowing collateral source evidence, it did not affect Taylor's substantial rights. Ms. Taylor has not demonstrated that "but for the alleged error, a different result might reasonably have been reached." *Wyeth v. Rowatt*, 120 Nev. 446, 465, 244 P.3d 765, 778 (2010); *see also Khoury v. Seastrand*, 132 Nev. 520, 377 P.3d 81, 94 (2016) (finding the exclusion of evidence of Medicaid liens was an abuse of discretion, but the error was harmless because appellant failed to show that admission of the subject evidence would have resulted in a different verdict). The jury determined that Dr. Brill and WHASN did not breach the standard of care. Evidence of collateral source

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